I. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR 


1. The Circuit Court erred in ruling that the State has no immunity when a state 

actor's actions involve" discretionary governmental functions." 

2. The Circuit Court erred in ruling that W. Va. Code § 49-2-802(c)(3) supports a 

cause of action against the State when an investigation is allegedly not "thorough" enough even 

though W. Va. Code § 49-2-802(h) expressly provides, "No child protective services caseworker 

may be held personally liable for any professional decision or action ... Arrived at in the 

performance ofhis or her official duties ...." 

3. The Circuit Court erred in ruling that CPS guidelines that had not been approved 

by the Legislature and were being used in only a few counties were "constitutional laws" or 

created "constitutional rights" under which the State may be held liable for their violation. 

4. The Circuit Court erred in failing to grant summary judgment to the State in a suit 

for the alleged failure to conduct a "thorough" investigation of reports by a non-custodial parent 

that a custodial parent's substance addiction placed a child in danger where there is no record 

evidence that there was a violation of any clearly-established right in the discretionary 

investigation and resolution of the reports that proximately caused the child's death. 

ll. STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

This is an appeal by Michael J. Lewis, in his capacity as Secretary of the West Virginia 

Department ofHealth and Human Resources ["Petitioner" or "DHHR"] from an order denying 

a motion for summary judgment based upon qualified and statutory immunity from a suit filed by 

Eric Gillispie, Administrator of the Estate ofRaynna Rea Boggs ["Mr. Gillispie" or "Plaintiff"]. 



Raynna Boggs ["Raynna" or "child"] was the infant child of Plaintiff and Leslie Boggs 

[Ie Ms. Boggs" or "mother"]' Mr. Gillispie and Ms. Boggs never married and had an often 

volatile relationship, including filing several domestic violence petitions against one another. I 

Ms. Boggs has had two children: J.B. and Raynna. Her mother, Donna Boggs ["Donna 

Boggs" or "maternal grandmother"], has played a large role in the raising of Ms. Boggs's 

children. Ms. Donna Boggs has legal custody ofJ.B.2 

On April 19, 2010, Child Protective Services ["CPS"] received an anonymous phone call 

regarding Ms. Boggs's parenting of Raynna.3 Heather Barefield ["Ms. Barefield"] with CPS 

received the intake call and completed an Intake Worksheet with the information given by the 

then anonymous reporter, Mr. Gillispie.4 

Mr. Gillispie stated that Ms. Boggs resided at 609 Rosemont Avenue, South Charleston, 

West Virginia.5 He listed the following individuals as adults involved with the raising of the 

subject child: "Donna Boggs, Eric Gillispie, and Leslie Boggs."6 During the call, Mr. Gillispie 

informed Ms. Barefield about his custody battle with Ms. Boggs.7 Mr. Gillispie called Ms. Boggs 

a "recovering addict," with a former addiction to opiates, marijuana, and alcohoP According to 

1 [APP 000203] Indeed, Ms. Boggs testified that she was impregnated by Plaintiff while she was 
unconscious: "Mr. Gillispie and Leslie Boggs were involved within one another from 2007, and the 
allegations are that he had vast amounts ofknowledge about her drug and alcohol use. She's even testified 
that this baby was conceived by rape when he had sex with her when she was passed out from drugs and 
alcohol." [APP 000518] 

2 [APP 000064,000069] 

3 [APP 000043 - 000046] 

4Id. 

5 [APP 000043] 

6Id. 

7 [APP 000044] 

8Id. 
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Mr. Gillispie, Ms. Boggs continued to use alcohol and drugs around Raynna and was not 

performing her parenting duties.9 

Mr. Gillispie also made a general allegation of domestic violence between Ms. Boggs and 

her current boyfriend. lO Mr. Gillispie went on to describe a situation where a fire had broken out 

in the boyfriend's apartment while Ms. Boggs had been intoxicated. ll Mr. Gillispie also 

recounted an instance where Donna Boggs had refused to accept custody papers from a process 

server when Ms. Boggs was not at home to accept them herself. 12 Notably, Mr. Gillispie did not 

assert that any physical harm came to Ms. Boggs's children during these interactions nor did he 

make any specific allegations of abuse and/or neglect. 

As noted by the Intake Worksheet, CPS policy requires that face-to-face contact with Ms. 

Boggs must occur within 72 hours of the initial report.13 After the Intake Worksheet was 

completed, Erica Garcia ["Ms. Garcia" or "CPS Worker"] was staffed as the assessment worker 

for the case. 14 Jenny Pace ["Ms. Pace"] was initially staffed as the case supervisor; however, Ms. 

Pace had a conflict with Mr. Gillispie which prevented her from supervising the case. IS 

Eventually, Pamela Ingram ["Ms. Ingram"] became the supervisor for the case. 16 

9Id. 

10 Id. 

11 Id. 

12Id. 

13 [APP 000046] 

14Id. 


15 [APP 000094] 


16 Id. Accordingly, Plaintiff's argument that a supervisor was not assigned to the case is simply 

incorrect. Ms. Pace was immediately assigned and Ms. Ingram was eventually assigned when Ms. Pace 
disqualified herself. 
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Ms. Garcia visited the Rosemont Avenue home on April 20, 2010, within 24 hours of the 

anonymous report. 17 During her deposition, Ms. Garcia described her first attempt to make 

contact with the mother and maternal grandmother: 

A: 	 I knocked on the door. 

Q: 	 Saw people inside, right? 

A: 	 I heard people inside. 

Q: 	 Okay. 

A: 	 I heard the garage door open and two ladies backed out of the garage in a 
car. I went to the car and asked if they were Leslie Boggs. They denied 
and I gave them a card and they backed out and left. 18 

Ms. Garcia further described this interaction in the Initial Assessment and Safety 

Evaluation Worksheet, noting that on April 20, 2010 at 2:15 p.m., "Worker [had] seen the family 

through the window but the people said they were not who the worker was looking for." 19 At 3:55 

p.m., the same day, Donna Boggs called the CPS Worker and "state[d] that she lied to worker 

about who they were and wanted to know the allegations" against the family.20 During that 

telephone call, the mother and maternal grandmother agreed to meet on April 22, 2010.21 

On April 22, 2010, the CPS Worker met with the mother and maternal grandmother, with 

J.B. and Raynna present, at the Rosemont Avenue home.22 Sarah Flowers ["Ms. Flowers"], 

17 [APP 000061 - 000067] 


18 [APP 000095 - 000096] 


19 [APP 000061] 


2°Id. 


21 Id. 


22 [APP 000099] 
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another CPS Worker, attended the meeting with Ms. Garcia.23 The mother and grandmother 

were interviewed separately by the CPS Workers and the CPS Workers observed the mother's 

and the maternal grandmother's interactions with the children who resided in the home.24 

During the visit, Ms. Boggs stated to Ms. Garcia that she intended to live with Donna 

Boggs, the maternal grandmother, for some time.25 Donna Boggs appeared to the case workers as 

a responsible caretaker for the home: . 

Q: 	 What did Donna Boggs say to you? 

A: 	 Sarah Flowers spoke to her, but from her notes and the information I was 
provided, she denied anything going on. She appeared to be protective. 
Ever after I spoke with them together, she showed that she, in the past, has 
intervened and protected U.B.]. Therefore, the conclusion was made that 
there was a protective caretaker in the home with the child if there was an 
issue.26 

Critically, the CPS Workers found no evidence to support Plaintiff's contention that 

either the mother or the maternal grandmother abused alcohol or drugs.27 The mother 

specifically denied spending time in rehab for addiction or any current abuse ofdrugs or alcohol:28 

Q: 	 No, [Erica Garcia] basically just asked me how I cared for the baby and 
drug and alcohol-how much I drank, how frequent, and a couple things 
like that. 

A: 	 Did you tell her? 

Q: 	 Yes. 

23 Id. 

24Id. 

25 [APP 000101] 

26 [APP 000101- 000102] 

27 [APP 000099 - 000100] 

28Id. 
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A: Did you tell her the truth? 

A: I minimized my usage. I did.29 

As a result, Ms. Garcia and Ms. Flowers concluded, (( At the time of the referral Leslie and 

Raynna [were] residing with Donna and U.B.]. At that time worker did not observe Leslie to be 

under the influence of any type of substance. Leslie denied any drug or excessive alcohol use. 

Donna denied any knowledge of alcohol or drug use by Leslie. Donna has had legal guardianship 

over U.B] and has consecutively lived without her throughout his life.))3O 

The CPS Worker used the information gathered during this visit to complete the Family 

Functioning Assessment and Present Danger Assessment documents: 

Caregiver 1: 

Donna is the biological mother of one child Leslie who is an adult. Although she is 
the primary caregiver of U.B.] and has been for many years. Donna would not tell 
worker if there were any legal papers involved with her having the child. Donna 
provides for all of U.B.' s] basic needs such as food clothing and shelter. Donna 
picks U.B.] up from school and takes him to all his doctors' appointments. Donna 
provides all the supervision and structure for U.B.] and appears to be very 
protective over him. 

Caregiver 2: 

Leslie abdicates her parental responsibility ofU.B.] to her mother Donna. Worker 
could visibl[y] observe that U.B.] and Leslie did not have a mother child 
relationship and interacted more as siblings. As Leslie would call for her mother 
when he was doing [some]thing. Leslie did attend to Raynna during worker visits 
and did seem appropriate and had the basic knowledge to care for her .... 31 

29 [APP 000107] Moreover, the maternal grandmother, Donna Boggs, denied that the mother, 
Leslie Boggs, abused drugs or alcohol. [APP 000099] 

30 [APP 000069] 

31 [APP 000070] 
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In completing the Family Function Assessment, Ms. Garcia states that she was aware of 

and observing for any evidence of "present dangers" to the children.32 "Present dangers" to a 

child are strictly defined, in the context of a CPS investigation, by the Interim Child Protective 

Services Policy for West Virginia Safety Assessment and Management System Pilot Counties. ))33 

The following conditions are considered "present dangers" to a child: 

1. 	 The child is being maltreated at the time of the referral 

This means that the child is being maltreated at the time the report is being 
made. This does not include chronic neglect that is reported as being 
ongoing but does not necessarily meet the criteria for present danger. 

2. 	 Severe to extreme maltreatment of the child is suspected 

This includes severe or extreme forms of maltreatment and can include 
severe injuries, serious unmet health needs, cruel treatment, and 
psychological torture. 

3. 	 The child has multiple or different kinds of injuries 

This generally refers to different kinds of injuries, such as bruising and 
bums, but it is acceptable to consider one type of injury on different parts 
of the body. 

4. 	 The child has injuries to the face or head. 

This includes any kind of physical injury to the face or head of the child 
alleged to be the result ofmaltreatment. 

5. 	 The maltreatment demonstrates bizarre cruelty 
This includes such things as locking up children, torture, extreme 
emotional abuse, etc. 

6. 	 The maltreatment of several victims is suspected 

This refers to more than one child currently being maltreated,rather than 
other children having been maltreated in the past. This does not include 

32 [APP 000095] 


33 [APP 000078 - 000081] 
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chronic ongoing neglect cases, where there is more than one alleged child 
victim, if the neglect situation does not meet the criteria for present 
danger. 

7. 	 The current report represents a serious threat to the child and there is a 
history of reports 

This threat requires no qualification about the nature of the previous 
reports as in whether they were minor or serious. Family history of 
reports should always be considered in relation to other threats when 
making judgments about present danger threats to a child. Serious is 
consistent with moderate to extreme maltreatment associated with serious 
family difficulties or stresses, questionable protective capacities, and 
concerning parental be~avior. 

8. 	 The maltreatment appears premeditated 

The maltreatment appears to be the result of a deliberate, preconceived 
plan or intent. 

9. 	 Dangerous (life threatening) living arrangements are present 

This is based on specific information reported which indicates that a 
child's living situation is an immediate threat to his/her safety. This 
includes serious health and safety circumstances such as unsafe buildings, 
serious fire hazards, accessible weapons, unsafe heating or wiring, etc. It is 
dependent upon the age and self-protective capacities of the child. 

10. 	 Caregiver'S viewpoint of the child is bizarre 

This refers to an extreme viewpoint that could be dangerous for the child, 
not just a negative attitude toward the child. It is consistent with the level 
of seeing the child as demon possessed. 

11. 	 Child is unable to care for self and unsupervised or alone at this time (now) 
This only applies if the child is truly without care, it does not apply to a 
person complaining that the parent has left the child with them and hasn't 
picked the child up yet. It also only applies to a child left unsupervised 
now. If the child was unsupervised the previous night but is not alone now, 
it is not a present danger threat ofharm. 

12. 	 Child needs medical attention at this time (now) 

8 



This applies to a child of any age. To be a present danger threat of harm, 
the medical care required must be significant enough that its absence could 
seriously affect the child's health and well-being. Lack of routine medical 
care is not a present danger threat. 

13. 	 Child is fearful or anxious of the horne situation at this time (now) 

This applies to children who are described as being obviously afraid of 
their horne situation, their present circumstances, or of a person because 
ofa personal threat. 

14. 	 Caregiver is intoxicated (alcohol or other drugs) now or is consistently 
under the influence 

This refers to a caregiver who is intoxicated or under the influence of 
drugs most of the time. The caregiver's ability to care for the child is more 
important than the use of a substance (drinking compared to intoxicated). 
Special consideration should be given in cases where methamphetamine 
use or the manufacturing of methamphetamine is reported. CPS should 
coordinate the response with law enforcement. 

15. 	 Caregiver is out of control (mental illness or other significant lack of 
control) 

This can include bizarre or dangerous behaviors as addressed below, but 
also includes mental or emotional distress where a caregiver cannot 
manage their behaviors in order to meet their caregiving responsibilities 
related to providing basic, necessary care. 

16. 	 Caregiver is demonstrating bizarre behaviors 

This will require interpretation of the reported information and may 
include unpredictable, incoherent, outrageous, or totally inappropriate 
behavior. 

17. 	 Caregivers are unable or unwilling to perform basic care 

This only refers to those duties and responsibilities consistent with basic 
care or assuring safety, not to whether the caregiver is generally effective 
or appropriate. 

18. 	 Caregiver is acting dangerous now or is described as dangerous 

9 



This includes a caregiver described as physically or verbally imposing and 
threatening, brandishing weapons, known to be dangerous and aggressive, 
currently behaving in an aggressive manner, etc. 

19. 	 Caregivers' whereabouts are unknown 

This includes situations when a caregiver cannot be located atthe time of 
the report and this affects the safety of the child. 

20. 	 The family may flee 

This will require judgment of case information. Transient families, families 
with no clear home, or homes that are not established, etc., should be 
considered. This refers to families who are likely to be impossible or 
difficult to locate and does not include families that are considering a 
formal, planned move. 

21. 	 The family hides the child 

This includes families who physically restrain a child within the home as 
well as families who avoid allowing others to have contact with their child 
by passing the child around to other relatives, or other means to limit CPS 
access to the child. 

22. 	 Child is subject to present/active domestic violence 

This refers to presently occurring domestic violence and child 
maltreatment or a general recurring state of domestic violence that 
includes child maltreatment where a child is being subjected to the actions 
and behaviors of a perpetrator of domestic violence. There is greater 
concern when the abuse of a caregiver and the abuse of a child occur 
during the same time. 

23. 	 Family is isolated and there is a report of serious maltreatment 

This refers to both geographic and social isolation. This is a dependent 
threat, i.e. in and of itself; the isolation of a family is not a present danger 
threat. 

24. 	 Situation may/will change quickly and there IS a report of senous 
maltreatment 

10 



The situation may result in the loss of opportunity to gather important 
information when there is a report of serious maltreatment.34 

Based upon their observations of the mother and grandmother, and consistent with the 

foregoing standards, the CPS Workers determined no present danger existed in the home.35 

Under the guidelines, a case worker has thirty days from the date of the initial intake to 

complete their investigation of the family.36 Thus, Ms. Garcia had until May 19, 2010, to 

complete her investigation of the Boggs family and the record evidence is undisputed that she 

continued with her investigation during this thirty-day period. 

During Ms. Garcia's visit with the mother and maternal grandmother, for example, they 

provided her with the names and contact information for Noble Young and Mary Ellis.37 The 

maternal grandmother indicated that her church friend and cousin could corroborate the 

mother's and grandmother's account of their home situation.38 On April 23, 2010, Ms. Garcia 

left a message for both individuals, but was unable to speak with either.39 Significantly, although 

he now wants to complain about the thoroughness of the investigation, Plaintiffdid not provide 

any contact information during his telephone calls to CPS for additional individuals who 

may have information about the mother and maternal grandmother. 

Indeed, even on April 23, 2010, when Ms. Garcia spoke with Plaintiff, he provided no 

additional contact information to corroborate his concerns about whether Raynna was being 

34 Id. Ms. Garcia testified that, ".With this present danger assessment tool, when we go into the 
field, these present dangers, if anything is identified, we're not allowed to leave a home." [APP 000095] 

35 [APP 000083 - 000086] 

36 [APP 000097 - 000098] 

37 [APP 000062] 

38 [APP 000107 - 000108] 

39 [APP 000062] 
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abused or neglected.40 Rather, after the CPS Worker informed Plaintiff about her meeting with 

the mother and maternal grandmother,41 Plaintiff called back fifteen minutes later and spoke with 

Barbara Hatfield at CPS to recount an episode regarding what occurred during an attempt to 

serve custodial papers upon the moth~r by Plaintiff and his brother, during which according to 

Plaintiff, an altercation occurred, not with the mother or grandmother, but with the mother's 

current boyfriend.42 Plaintiff alleged that he had a domestic violence petition pending against the 

mother at the time ofthe altercation; law enforcement was summoned; and the mother's current 

boyfriend allegedly had a criminal history, all of which was noted in CPS records,43 but none of 

which involved placing either of the children in immediate danger. 

On May 6, 2010, Ms. Garcia spoke with her supervisor Ms. Ingram about the Boggs 

family.44 Ms. Ingram agreed that no present dangers were observed in the home, and approved 

the completed "Present Danger Assessment at FFA or Other Indicated Times. ))45 No present 

dangers were noted on the Present Danger Assessment for the Boggs residence.46 Accordingly as 

of May 6, 2010, still within the thirty-day investigatory period, Petitioner had no evidence that 

would have supported a good faith petition to remove the children from the home. 

4°Id. 


41 [APP 000102] 


42 [APP 000062] 


43 Id. Notably, Ms. Garcia testified that she discussed the custodial papers incident with the 

mother and grandmother during their April 22, 2010, meeting (as information about this incident was 
available at that time through the Intake Worksheet). [APP 000104] Neither the mother nor the 
grandmother referenced the altercation alleged by Plaintiff. Id. 

44 [APP 000062] 

45 [APP 000083 - 000086] Again, not only is Plaintiff's argument that a supervisor was not 
assigned to the case incorrect, the supervisor who was assigned, Ms. Ingram, concluded that based upon 
the evidence collected, there was no probable cause to remove the children from the home. 

46Id.

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