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

II. SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT. 

It is undisputed that Petitioner'is entitled to qualified immunity in the performance of 

discretionary duties. By definition qualified immunity is not absolute. Qualified immunity does 

not protect an agency, official or employee when their conduct violates the law. "A public 

executive official who is acting within the scope of his authority and is not covered by the 

provisions of W.Va. Code § 29-12A-1, et seq., is entitled to qualified immunity from personal 

liability for official acts if the involved conduct did not violate clearly established laws of which a 

reasonable official would have known ...."8 So, the only questions that are properly addressed to 

the Court in this matter are whether the CPS Policy Manual, adopted as a legislative rule, 

constitutes a well- established law establishing nondiscretionary duties ofwhich a reasonable CPS 

6 App. 000140-000145. 
7 App. 000160-000161. 
8Syl., State v. Chase Securities, Inc., 188 W.Va. 356,424 S.E.2d 591 (1992). 
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caseworker would have known, and whether the conduct of the Petitioner's caseworker in this case 

is shielded from liability by the application of, W.Va. Code § 49-2-802(h). 

First, W.Va. Code § 49-6A-9(b)(3) mandates that CPS shall conduct a "thorough" 

investigation in response to a report of child endangerment. The CPS policy defines what 

constitutes a thorough investigation and establishes a series of mandatory, nondiscretionary duties 

that must be performed by a CPS caseworker conducting such an investigation. The CPS policy 

is incorporated into the Social Services Manual that is, in tum, adopted as a legislative rule by 

W.Va. CSR § 78-5-2. The record reflects that Petitioner's caseworker, Ms. Garcia, failed to 

perform several of these mandatory duties in the course of her investigation in this case. These 

failures constitute violations of well-established laws that a reasonable CPS worker would have 

known and, in fact, Mrs. Garcia did know of. Therefore, the doctrine of qualified immunity does 

not protect the Petitioner from liability in this case. 

Second, W.Va. Code § 49-2-802(h) does not shield the Petitioner from liability for the 

failure of its employee caseworker to perform nondiscretionary mandatory functions. Subsection 

(h) was added to the Act effective May 17, 2015, long after the conduct complained of in this case. 

In any case, it merely reflects a codification of existing law relating to the performance of 

discretionary functions. It provides insulation from liability with respect to "professional decisions 

or actions taken pursuant to those decisions". In this case, the Respondent complains not of 

discretionary functions or professional decisions but rather ofa failure to perform nondiscretionary 

duties necessary to complete a thorough investigation. 

III. STATEMENT REGARDING ORAL ARGUMENT AND DECISION. 

In its brief, the Petitioner has repeatedly mischaracterized the Trial Court's ruling in an 

apparent attempt to confuse the issues and diminish the Trial Court's credibility. For that reason, 

the Respondent agrees that oral argument is necessary. However, because the issue presented in 

3 




Petitioner's appeal involves the application of well-established and existing law Respondent 

believes the matter is appropriate for memorandum decision. 

IV. ARGUMENT. 

A. Standard of Review. 

The standard of review upon appeal ofthe denial ofa motion for summary judgment, where 

such rulings are properly reviewable, is de novo.9 Thus, the Court should review the case 

according to the standards applicable to the trial court. Rule 56 of the West Virginia Rules ofCivil 

Procedure establishes the standard for determining whether summary judgment is proper and 

should be granted. "A motion for summary judgment should be granted only when it is clear that 

there is no genuine issue ofmaterial fact to be tried and inquiry concerning the facts is not desirable 

to clarify the application of the law.,,10 "A party is not entitled to summary judgment unless the 

facts established show a right to judgment with such clarity as to leave no room for controversy 

and show affirmatively that the adverse party can not prevail under any circumstances."" The 

Court's function at the summary judgment stage is not "to weigh the evidence and determine the 

truth of the matter but to determine whether there is a genuine issue or trial.,,12 In so doing, the 

court "must draw any permissible inference from the underlying facts in the light most favorable 

to the party opposing the motion."13 

Here, the facts, when viewed in the light most favorable to Respondent, reflect that the 

caseworker, Ms. Garcia, failed to perform certain actions mandated by the CPS Policy. The 

9 Syl. Pt. 2, West Virginia State Police v. Hughes, 238 W Va. 406, 796 S.E.2d 193 (2017). 

10 Etna Casualty and Surety Company v. Fed. Ins. Co. oJN Y, 148 W.Va. 160, 170-171, 133 

S.E.2d 770, 777 (1963). 

11 Id. at 172. 

12 Williams v. Precision Coil, 194 W.Va. 52,459 S.E.2d 329 (1995) citing Anderson v. Liberty 

Lobby, Inc., 477 U.S. 242, 249, 106 S. Ct. 2505,2511 (1986). 

13Painterv. Peavy, 192 W.Va. 89,192,451 S.E.2d 755 (1994). 
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question then is one of law, whether the CPS manual constitutes a well-established law of which 

a reasonable caseworker should have known. 

B. 	 The Circuit Court did not rule that there is no immunity where officials' 

actions involved discretionary government functions. 

The Petitioner's first assignment of error, that the Trial Court erred in ruling that the State 

has no immunity when an officials' actions involve discretionary government functions, is based 

on a mischaracterization of the Trial Court's ruling. In fact, the Trial Court made no such ruling. 

The Court cited a series of cases that establish the same standard as that urged by the Petitioner in 

its brief. For example, the Court quoted Syl. Pt. 11, WVRJCFA v. A.B., 14 as follows: 

To the extent that governmental acts or omissions which give rise to 
a cause of action fall within the category of discretionary functions, 
a reviewing court must determine whether the plaintiff has 
demonstrated that such acts or omissions are in violation of clearly 
established statutory or constitutional rights or laws of which a 
reasonable person would have known or are otherwise fraudulent, 
malicious, or oppressive in accordance with State v. Chase 
Securities, Inc., 188 W.Va. 356,424 S.E.2d 591 (1992). In absence 
of such a showing, both the State and its officials or emplo~ees 
charged with such acts or omissions are immune from liability. 5 

Applying this rule, rather than finding that the Petitioner has no immunity, the Court merely 

concluded that Petitioner's employees failed to comply with nondiscretionary requirements 

established by the CPS Policy to ensure a thorough investigation. For that reason, the Court 

concluded that Respondent's claims against Petitioner were not barred by qualified immunity. As 

such, the Petitioner's first assignment of error reflects a misunderstanding or mischaracterization 

of the Trial Court's ruling and should be disregarded. 

14 234 W.Va. 492, 766 S.E.2d 751 (2014), 
15Id. See, also Bennett v. Coffman, 178 W.Va. 500, 361 S.E.2d 465 (1987) ("Governmental 
officials performing discretionary functions are shielded from liability for civil damages insofar 
as their conduct does not violate clearly established statutory or constitutional rights of which a 
reasonable person would have known .... "); Syl. Pt. 3, West Virginia State Police v. Hughes, 238 
W.Va. 406, 796 S.E.2d 193 (2017). 

5 




C. West Virginia Code § 49-2-80201) does not apply to insulate Petitioner from 

liability in this case. 

In support of its second Assignment of Error, Petitioner relies on subpart (h) of West 

Virginia Code § 49-2-802 which establishes the CPS and assigns its general duties and powers. 

That section recodifies and tracks a prior statute, Section 49-6A-9, as a part of the recodification 

of the Child Welfare Act in 2015. 16 Section 49-2-802 is, for the most part, identical to its 

predecessor except that it adds subpart (h) upon which the Petitioner relies. However, this subpart 

did not exist and did not become effective until May of20 15, five years after the events complained 

of in this case. In any case, that provision does not relate to nondiscretionary or ministerial 

functions or duties. Rather, it relates to "professional decisions" that is, discretionary actions. 

The Court should also note that the cases cited by the Petitioner in support of its argument 

that it should not be liable for a failure by its employees to perform a sufficiently "thorough" 

investigation do not address the issue presented in this case. None of the cases cited, including 

Hughes, supra, involve a case where the law requires, and an official fails to perform, certain 

nondiscretionary, mandatory functions. In none of those cases is there an indication that, in the 

performance of their investigations, the public official failed to perform functions required by law. 

In the present case, however, the CPS Policy Manual, which carries the force and effect of law, 

specifically required Petitioner's employees to contact the custodian of a child within twenty-four 

(24) hours after receipt of a report involving allegations of substance abuse, required a CPS 

caseworker to meet with her supervisor within twenty-four (24) hours after meeting with custodial 

parent, and required her to contact "collaterals", other parties with knowledge or information 

concerning the child's welfare. In this case, the Petitioner's employees failed to perform these 

mandatory functions. 

16 W.Va. Code § 49-1-101(b). 
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For these reasons, the Petitioner is not insulated from liability by the provisions of Section 

49-2-802(h) and it was not error for the Trial Court to decline to address this provision which was 

not effective at the time of the conduct complained of and, in any case, does not affect the 

application of the underlying standard. Therefore, the Petitioner's appeal should be denied. 

D. 	 The CPS Policy Manual constitutes a clearly established statutory law of 

which a reasonable CPS worker would have known. 

In support of its third assignment of error, the Petitioner argues that the CPS Policy is not 

a law the violation of which would prevent the application of qualified immunity in this case. As 

noted by the Trial Court, however, the DHHR's Secretary is authorized and empowered by W.Va. 

Code § 9-2-6(2) to promulgate, amend, revise and rescind rules respecting the powers, duties and 

responsibilities assigned to the Petitioner by statute. Rules or regulations so promulgated 

constitute legislative rules as defined by the State Administrative Procedures Act. 17 Such 

legislative rules have the full force and effect oflaw. 18 

In the exercise of his authority, the DHHR secretary has promulgated a rule adopting a 

Social Services Manual which includes and incorporates the CPS Policy. The Manual 

incorporated by reference as a legislative rule by virtue of W. Va. CSR § 78-5-2. The Social 

Services Manual contains policies and procedures to be followed in the administration of those 

functions assigned to the Petitioner, including protective services for children. 19 Thus, the 

provisions of the CPS Policy carry the full force and effect of law. 

Furthermore, as noted the secretary is empowered to revise and amend established rules 

and as done so in this case revising the Interim Child Protective Services Policy in 2009. The 

policies that were in effect and controlled the actions of the Petitioner's employees in this case. 

17 West Virginia Code § 29A-1-2(d). 

18 Syl. Pt. 5, Smith v. West Virginia Human Rights Commission, 216 W.Va. 2, 602 S.E.2d 445 

(2004). 

19 West Virginia CSR § 78-5-1. 
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Further, in this case, the CPS Policy is not only the law establishing certain non

discretionary, mandatory functions on the part ofcaseworkers and supervisors, but it was also well 

known to the individual tasked with performing a thorough investigation in this case. Both Ms. 

Garcia and her supervisor, Ms. Ingram, acknowledged the requirements set out in the Policy and 

admitted their failure to adhere to those requirements. Thus, not only were the requirements ofthe 

policy well known to reasonable officials but they were, in fact, known by these specific officials. 

Thus, the CPS Policy carries a full force and effect of law and establishes certain 

nondiscretionary functions or administrative acts be performed by a caseworker and supervisor in 

the conduct of a thorough investigation, requirements of which the individuals involved in this 

case were aware. The failure to adhere to those requirements constitutes a violation of law which 

prevents the application of qualified immunity in this case. Therefore, the Petitioner's appeal 

should be denied. 

E. 	 The failure of the Petitioner's employees to perform nondiscretionary, 

mandatory functions in the course of their investigation constitutes a violation 

of well-established law of which a reasonable caseworker would have known, 

and of which Ms. Garcia did know. 

As its final assignment of etTor, the Petitioner asserts that there is no record evidence of a 

violation of a clearly established right or law in the performance of the investigation at issue in 

this case. Petitioner argues that the failure to perform a "thorough" investigation is not specific 

enough to support the finding of the violation of a established law. However, the CPS Policy is a 

clearly established law that clearly imposes a series of nondiscretionary, mandatory functions that 

the Petitioner's employees are required to perform in the conduct an investigation. While there 

are certainly discretionary aspects to the performance of a CPS investigation, there are certain 

8 




actions that are required, by law, in the course of an investigation. In WVDHHR v. Payne,20 the 

Court noted that "[c]ertain governmental actions or functions may involve both discretionary and 

nondiscretionary or ministerial aspects, the latter of which may constitute a 'clearly established 

law' of which a reasonable public official would have known.,,21 This was likewise noted in 

WVRJCFA v. A.B. where the Court explained, "for instance, a broadly characterized governmental 

action or function may fall under the umbrella of a 'discretionary' governmental function; but 

within this discretionary function, there are nonetheless particular laws, rights, statutes, or 

regulations which impose ministerial duties on the official charged with these functions.,,22 

Here, Respondent has identified a series of such ministerial acts that the Petitioner's 

employees failed to perform. Perhaps most importantly, was their failure to interview collaterals. 

Section 4.6 of the CPS Policy defines "collaterals" as "any third party (e.g., friends, neighbors, 

relatives, or professionals) with information about the alleged abuse/neglect and risk of serious 

harm to the children." Once these collaterals are identified the CPS worker "must interview as 

many collaterals as needed to reach conclusions regarding the alleged abuse/neglect and threat of 

serious harm. All individuals known to have first-hand knowledge of the allegations must be 

contacted. Interviews must be conducted individually and privately, by telephone or in person .... 23 

In this case, Ms. Garcia failed to make any meaningful attempts to contact collaterals. She 

admitted in deposition testimony that she failed to contact collaterals including the father of Ms. 

Boggs' older child or her current boyfriend although those men were identified in the initial referral 

and although she admitted they would have been important to talk to.24 Ms. Garcia also admitted 

that she did not contact the rehab center where Ms. Boggs received treatment or anyone else who 

could have shed light on Ms. Boggs' substance abuse problems.25 Ms. Garcia also acknowledged 

2°231 W.Va. 563, 746 S.E.2d 554 (2013) 

21Id. 231 W.Va. at 574, 746 S.E.2d 565, n. 26. 

22Id., 234 W.Va. 492, 514, 766 S.E.2d 751, 773 (2014). 

23 App. 000322-000323. 

24 App. 000141. 

25 App. 000140-000141. 
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that she failed to conduct a face-to-face interview with Ms. Boggs within the 24-hours required 

because of the allegation of substance abuse. 

Further, the CPS Policy, Section 4.4, requires that the caseworker consult with her 

supervisor within 24-hours ofcontact with the identified child unless a present danger is identified. 

The record reflects that Ms. Garcia did not meet with her supervisor within 24-hours after her 

interview with Ms. Boggs and, in fact, did not meet with her supervisor to discuss the case until 

two weeks later.26 In fact, a supervisor was not assigned to the case as required by the CPS Policy 

until more than two weeks after the referral was made for. The record also includes the report of 

Michael K. Corey, a nationally recognized expert on Child Protective Service and a former 

consultant for, among many others, the West Virginia DHHR, who further detailed the failure of 

the Petitioner and its employees to adhere to the mandates of the CPS Policy.27 

Thus, the record does reflect that the Petitioner's employees in this case failed to perform

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